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  Plaintiffs  and  (“Plaintiffs”), by their attorneys Wittels Law, 

P.C, bring this action in their individual capacity, and on behalf of a class of persons defined 

below, against Defendants Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC, Ambit New York, LLC, and Ambit 

Northeast, LLC and hereby allege the following with knowledge as to their own acts, and upon 

information and belief as to all other acts: 

OVERVIEW OF DEFENDANT AMBIT’S DECEPTIVE PRACTICES 

1. Seizing on the nation’s push to deregulate retail energy markets and provide 

consumers with alternatives to traditional utilities like Rochester Gas and Electric in New York, 

independent energy service companies like Defendant Ambit Energy
1
 (called “ESCOs”) have 

grown rapidly.  Founded in 2006, Ambit Energy has quickly become one of the nation’s largest 

ESCOs.  Based in Dallas, Texas Ambit now serves over 1 million electric and natural gas 

customers in 14 states and the District of Columbia, 94% of whom are residential customers like 

Plaintiffs.  While claiming on its website that customers “are choosing Ambit Energy as the best 

choice in energy today,” the fast-growing venture neglects to mention that by choosing Ambit, 

customers enrolled in Ambit’s “budget billing” plans can find themselves saddled with hundreds 

of dollars in hidden, illegal fees.  

2. Ambit markets itself as a less-expensive alternative to existing utilities, telling 

potential customers to “stop paying too much for electricity.”  Unfortunately, customers who 

switch find just the opposite – and end up actually paying way too much for energy.  Ambit’s 

budget billing plan, which it offers to consumers in several markets across the United States, is a 

                                                 
1
 “Ambit Energy” or “Ambit” is how this giant private company holds itself out to the general 

public.  Ambit, available at http://ww2.ambitenergy.com.  Upon information and belief, the 

operations of the corporate defendants are directed by Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC.  All 

Defendants are hereafter collectively referred to as Defendant “Ambit Energy,” Defendant 

“Ambit” or the “Company,” unless otherwise specified. 
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prime example.  Rather than helping customers manage their energy charges, Ambit’s budget 

billing plan breaks customers’ budgets with hidden charges. 

3. Ambit’s website states that the energy company calculates the average monthly 

amount owed by a budget billing customer and then bills the customer a set monthly rate based 

on the average rate.  Ambit’s budget billing customers pay only the set rate, but if their energy 

costs are higher than the average rate billed these customers will carry a balance. 

4. Ambit touts its budget billing program as a “convenient way[] to help you budget 

your household expenses and avoid the highs and lows of the usual energy bill.”  The truth is, 

however, that Ambit’s budget billing plans mask the company’s exorbitant energy rates by (1) 

failing to inform customers that their budget payments are not covering all amounts due, and 

misrepresenting the balance customers actually owe, and/or (2) adding additional budget billing 

“settlement” charges on customers’ final bills that are in addition to any balance owed.  As a 

result, unsuspecting budget billing consumers like Plaintiffs  and  pay Ambit’s 

monthly bills without knowing that they are accumulating additional fees that Ambit later springs 

on its customers.   

5. Ambit’s budget billing practices violate not only the consumer protection laws of 

New York (G.B.L. § 349) and Maryland (MD. CODE COM. LAW § 13-303, et seq.), but also a 

newly-enacted consumer protection statute targeting abuse in the ESCO market: New York’s 

Energy Services Company Consumers Bill of Rights, G.B.L. § 349-d.  The law’s drafters 

explicitly recognized that New York’s new energy consumer protection law would help “weed 

out companies whose business model is based on taking unfair advantage of consumers.”  N.Y. 

Sponsors Mem., 2009 A.B. 1558, at 1 (2009) annexed hereto as Ex. 1.   

6. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and a Class of Ambit 

customers similarly harmed and described below.  Plaintiffs seek, inter alia, a refund of 

overcharges, statutory damages, treble damages up to ten thousand dollars, injunctive and 
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declaratory relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs.  

7. Only through a class action can the Company’s customers remedy Ambit’s 

ongoing wrongdoing.  Because the monetary damages suffered by each customer are small 

compared to the much higher cost a single customer would incur in trying to challenge Ambit’s 

unlawful practices, it makes no financial sense for an individual customer to bring his or her own 

lawsuit.  Further, many customers don’t even realize they are victims of Ambit’s deceptive 

conduct. 

8. With this class action, Plaintiffs and the Class seek to level the playing field and 

make sure that companies like Ambit engage in fair and upright business practices.  Plaintiffs 

therefore seek equitable relief in addition to monetary damages.  Plaintiffs ask that the Court 

declare Defendants’ business practices impermissible, enjoin Defendants from continuing their 

dishonest practices, require that Defendants return all misappropriated monies, and compensate 

Plaintiffs and the Class for all damages suffered as a result of Defendants’ deceptive acts.   

PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff  is a citizen of  and resides in ,  

.  Plaintiff  was an Ambit customer from approximately February 2012 to August 

2014.  

10. Plaintiff  is a citizen of  and resides in , 

.  Mr.  was an Ambit customer from approximately February 2013 to February 

2015. 

11. Ambit’s website tells the story of how Ambit’s co-founders Jere Thompson, Jr. 

and Chris Chambless formed their energy enterprise in 2006 after “a friendly chat about energy 

deregulation over turkey sandwiches” (http://ww2.ambitenergy.com/about-ambit-energy). 

12. Since 2006, the energy operation has been known to the public as “Ambit,” which 

the two founders have operated through a tangled web of interrelated Ambit-labeled energy 
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companies.  All of the Ambit affiliated and subsidiary companies are based out of the same 

downtown Dallas address, 1801 N. Lamar Street, Suite 200, including the Defendant Ambit 

companies responsible for the unlawful conduct that harmed Plaintiffs. 

13. Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC is a Texas citizen, and headquartered 

at the downtown Dallas location.
2
  Upon information and belief, Defendant Ambit Energy 

Holdings, LLC is the primary actor responsible for the deceptive and unlawful conduct that 

harmed Plaintiffs.  

14. At all relevant times, Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC, individually and 

through the various Defendant Texas-based entities that serve as its operating companies, agents, 

or departments, marketed, sold, and supplied electricity and natural gas to Plaintiffs and 

hundreds of thousands of other New York and Maryland consumers in the service territories of 

various incumbent energy suppliers in New York, Maryland, and at least twelve other states and 

the District of Columbia.  These suppliers in New York include Con Edison, National Grid, New 

York State Electric and Gas, Rochester Gas and Electric, Orange & Rockland, Central Hudson 

and National Fuel Gas.  In Maryland, the incumbent energy suppliers are Baltimore Gas and 

Electric, Pepco, Delmarva Power, Potomac Edison, and Washington Gas.  

15. Defendant Ambit New York, LLC is a New York limited liability company, and 

is a wholly owned subsidiary of Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC.  Like the other Texas-

                                                 
2
 Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC is a limited liability corporation.  Its citizenship is 

thus determined by its sole managing member, another Texas limited liability company called 
Ambit Holdings, LLC.  This managing member in turn has as its own sole managing member a 
Texas corporation called Ambit Systems, Inc.  Both managing members Ambit Holdings, LLC. 
and Ambit Systems, Inc. are headquartered and have their principal place of business at the North 
Lamar Street address in Dallas. See the following attached documents all filed with the Texas 
Secretary of State and incorporated herein by reference: Exhibit 2, Public Information Report for 
Ambit Holdings, LLC; Exhibit 3, Public Information Report for Ambit Systems, Inc.; and Exhibit 
4, Ambit Systems, Inc.’s Certificate of Formation, which lists Jere W. Thompson as the sole 
member of the initial Board of Directors, and the company’s initial registered agent.  Mr. 
Thompson is also Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings LLC’s registered agent – see attached 
Exhibit 5, Public Information Report.   
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based Ambit entities named as Defendants in this action, Ambit New York, LLC is 

headquartered in the same Dallas office as the other Defendants and is run by the same executive 

team.  The location of Ambit New York, LLC’s registered agent is likewise Suite 200 at 1801 N. 

Lamar Street in Dallas.     

16. Defendant Ambit New York, LLC billed Plaintiff  for the gas and 

electricity he purchased from Ambit.  Upon information and belief, however, Defendant Ambit 

Energy Holdings, LLC is the entity that caused the unlawful representations on Mr. ’s 

bills, as Ambit’s bills instruct consumers to call the holding company’s Plano, Texas call center 

“with questions concerning your bill.”  Mr. ’s bill also lists Defendant Ambit Energy 

Holding, LLC’s website as a point of contact for communications concerning Ambit’s billing.  

Defendant Ambit New York, LLC does not maintain a call center or website.      

17. Defendant Ambit Northeast, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with 

a principle place of business located at 1801 North Lamar Street, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas.  

Defendant Ambit Northeast, LLC, is also a wholly owned subsidiary of Defendant Ambit Energy 

Holdings, LLC and has the same executive team as the holding company.  

18. At all relevant times Plaintiff ’s energy bills stated that his gas was being 

supplied by Ambit Maryland, LLC.  This entity however, changed its name to Ambit Northeast, 

LLC in July 2010.  See Corporate Charter Approval Sheet and Articles of Amendment attached 

hereto as Ex. 6 (executed by co-founder Jere Thompson).  Mr. ’s bills also instruct 

consumers with questions about their bills to call Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC’s 

Plano, Texas call center and incorrectly states that this phone number is owned by Ambit 

Maryland, LLC (which no longer exists).  Like the New York Plaintiff’s bills, Mr. ’s bills 

provide Defendant Ambit Energy Holding, LLC’s website as a point of contact. 

19. Plaintiff ’s bills also state that his electricity was being supplied by “Ambit 

Energy.”   While there is no corporate entity called “Ambit Energy,” the last listed owner of the 
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Trademark “AMBIT ENERGY” is Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC’s sole member, 

Ambit Holdings, LLC.  See attached Ex. 7, Federal Trademark Registration No. 3,443,624, 

incorporated herein by reference, stating that “AMBIT ENERGY” is for “distribution of energy, 

namely providing electrical energy and natural gas to residential and commercial users.”  The 

bills also direct consumers with billing questions for “Ambit Energy” to call Defendant Ambit 

Energy Holdings, LLC’s call center. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

20. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 

(the “Class Action Fairness Act”).   

21. This action meets the prerequisites of the Class Action Fairness Act, because the 

claims of the Class defined below exceeds the sum or value of $5,000,000.00, the Class has more 

than 100 members, and diversity of citizenship exists between at least one member of the Class 

and Defendants. 

22. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they maintain 

sufficient contacts in this jurisdiction, including conducting business within the State of New 

York.  

23. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(1) & (2).  

Substantial acts in furtherance of the alleged improper conduct occurred within this District and 

Plaintiff  resides within this District.  

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

I. The Deregulation of New York’s and Maryland’s Energy Markets 

24. In 1996, New York deregulated the sale of retail gas and electricity and in 1999 

Maryland followed suit.  As a result of deregulation, consumers can purchase natural gas and/or 

electricity through third-party suppliers while continuing to receive delivery of the energy from 

their existing public utilities.  These third-party energy suppliers are known as Energy Service 
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Companies (“ESCOs”).  Following deregulation, ESCOs are subject to minimal regulation by a 

state’s utility regulator.  ESCOs like Ambit do not have to file their rates with state utility 

regulators, or the method by which those rates are set.   

25. If a customer switches to an ESCO, the customer will then have their energy 

“supplied” by the ESCO, but still “delivered” by their existing utility (in Rochester, typically 

RG&E).  The customer’s existing utility continues to deliver the customer’s bills, which now 

include both the ESCOs energy supply as well as the utility’s delivery costs.   

26. After a customer switches to an ESCO, the customer’s energy supply charge 

[based either on a customer’s kilowatt hour (electricity) or therm (gas) usage] is calculated using 

the supply rate charged by the ESCO and not the utility’s regulated rate.  The supply rate charged 

is itemized on the customer’s bill as the number of kilowatt hours (“kWh”) or therms multiplied 

by the rate.  For example, if a customer uses 145 kWh at a rate of 10.0¢ per kWh, the customer 

will be billed $14.50 (145 x $.10) for their energy supply. 

II. Ambit’s Rapid Expansion 

27. According to its website, Defendant Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC is “the fastest-

growing company in the retail energy sector today.”  In 2010, Inc. Magazine named Ambit the 

fastest growing private company in the United States.  By 2013, Ambit’s annual revenue was 

$1.2 billion. And by August 2014, Ambit had been listed by Inc. Magazine as one of the United 

States’ 5000 fastest growing companies five years in a row.    

28. Defendants’ success, however, comes at the expense of consumers. Using 

deceptive and unconscionable business tactics, Ambit has taken advantage of deregulation and 

the resulting lack of oversight to saddle customers with hidden fees.  

III. How Ambit’s Deceptive and Unlawful Budget Billing Practices Harmed Plaintiffs 

29. Ambit uses at least two illegal tactics to assess its budget billing customers with 

additional, undisclosed fees.  Under the first tactic, the energy company fails to tell customers 
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that their budget payments are not covering all amounts due, and misrepresents the balance 

customers owe. In the second scenario, Ambit adds additional budget billing “settlement” 

charges on customers’ final bills that are in excess of any balance owed.   

30. New York Plaintiff ’s Budget Billing Issues:  Finally realizing 

that Ambit’s rates were much higher than those charged by RG&E, in the spring of 2014 Mr. 

 contacted Ambit and told the energy company that he wanted to switch back to his 

existing utility.  In August 2014, Plaintiff received his final Ambit bill and was dismayed at 

Ambit’s charges (a total of $1,002.55) and their impact on his family’s finances.  To make 

matters worse, while both the gas and electric portions of Mr. ’s final bill showed that he 

owed Ambit a balance, the “settlement” charges Ambit imposed were larger than the balance 

owed. 

31. For Mr. ’s electricity account, the difference between his actual costs over 

the prior year and the costs he had paid via budget billing were $476.69.  This balance was 

itemized on his bill as the “Budget Cumulative Difference.”  Yet Ambit requested $489.84, or an 

additional $13.25.   Likewise, the balance Ambit requested for its gas charges was also off, only 

much more so.  The budget cumulative difference for Mr. ’s gas charges was $267.74, 

yet Ambit listed his balance as $588.51, an additional $320.77.
3
  An image of the relevant 

portion of Mr. ’s final Ambit bill showing the improper billing is reproduced on the 

following page: 

                                                 
3
 A portion of Ambit’s overbilling was offset by the unexplained “adjustments” applied to Mr. 

’s account which totaled $267.63 ($200.65 for electricity and $66.98 for gas).  
Nevertheless, even if these mysterious adjustments were related to Plaintiff’s budget billing 
balance, Ambit billed for and collected an additional $66.39 that was not owed.   
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contained a $597.27 settlement charge for his gas account that was entirely unexpected and 

unexplained.   February 2015 Bill, p. 2-3 attached as Ex. 11.  As would any reasonable 

consumer in his position, Mr.  thought that because there was no balance shown on his 

previous bills the budget billing amount was covering his gas usage.  This is especially true 

given that the electric portions of his bills indicated a balance.     

35. By adding a $597.27 surprise settlement amount onto Mr. ’s bill, Ambit 

harmed Plaintiff financially in the amount of this unauthorized and unlawful overcharge.  Ambit 

also caused financial harm to Plaintiff  by hiding the true cost of its energy, thus 

preventing Mr.  from realizing sooner that Ambit’s offerings were much more expensive 

than what his local utility would have charged.    

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

36. Plaintiffs sue on their own behalf and on behalf of a Class for damages and 

injunctive relief under Rules 23(a), (b)(2), (b)(3), and (c)(4) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure.   

37. The Class, preliminarily defined as three subclasses, is as follows: 

a. All Ambit customers in New York who were enrolled in a budget billing 

program from June 15, 2009 and thereafter (the “New York Subclass”);  

   

b. All Ambit customers in Maryland who were enrolled in a budget billing program 

from June 15, 2012 and thereafter (the “Maryland Subclass”); and 

 

c. All Ambit customers in California, Connecticut, Delaware, Illinois, Maine, 

Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, 

Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Texas, Virginia and Washington, D.C who were 

enrolled in a budget billing program from [applicable state statute of limitations 

period] and thereafter (the “Multistate Subclass”). 

 

38. Excluded from the Subclasses are the officers and directors of Defendants, 

members of the immediate families of the officers and directors of Defendants, and their legal 

representatives, heirs, successors or assigns and any entity in which they have or have had a 

controlling interest.  Also excluded are all federal, state and local government entities; and any 
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judge, justice or judicial officer presiding over this action and the members of their immediate 

families and judicial staff. 

39. Plaintiffs do not know the exact size of the Subclasses (hereafter collectively the 

“Class” unless otherwise specified), since such information is in the exclusive control of 

Defendants.  Plaintiffs believe, however, that based on the number of Ambit customers, the Class 

encompasses thousands of individuals whose identities can be readily ascertained from 

Defendants’ records.  Plaintiffs also believe that both subclasses each have thousands of 

members.  Accordingly, the members of the Class are so numerous that the joinder of all such 

persons is impracticable. 

40. Plaintiffs are adequate class representatives.  Their claims are typical of the 

claims of the Class and do not conflict with the interests of any other members of the Class.  

Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class were subject to the same or similar conduct.  

Further, Plaintiffs and the Class sustained substantially the same injuries and damages arising out 

of Defendants’ conduct. 

41. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of all Class members.  

Plaintiff has retained competent and experienced class action attorneys to represent their interests 

and those of the Class. 

42. Questions of law and fact are common to the Class and predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual Class members, and a class action will generate common 

answers to the questions below, which are apt to drive the resolution of this action: 

a. Whether Defendants’ conduct violates New York General Business Law § 349-

d; 

 

b. Whether Defendants’ conduct violates New York General Business Law § 349; 

 

c. Whether Defendants’ conduct violates Maryland’s Code of Commercial Law § 

13-303, et seq.; 

 

d. Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched as a result of their conduct; 
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e. Whether the Class members have been injured by Defendants’ conduct; 

 

f. Whether, and to what extent, equitable relief should be imposed on Defendants 

to prevent them from continuing their unlawful practices; and 

 

g. The extent of class-wide injury and the measure of damages for those injuries. 

43. A class action is superior to all other available methods for resolving this 

controversy because i) the prosecution of separate actions by Class members will create a risk of 

adjudications with respect to individual Class members that will, as a practical matter, be 

dispositive of the interests of the other Class members not parties to this action, or substantially 

impair or impede their ability to protect their interests; ii) the prosecution of separate actions by 

Class members will create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to 

individual Class members, which will establish incompatible standards for Defendants’ conduct; 

iii) Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to all Class 

members; and iv) questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual Class members.  

44. Further, the following issues are also appropriately resolved on a classwide basis 

under Fed. R. Civ. P.  23(c)(4): 

a. Whether Defendants’ conduct violates New York General Business Law § 349-

d; 

 

b. Whether Defendants’ conduct violates New York General Business Law § 349; 

 

c. Whether Defendants’ conduct violates Maryland’s Code of Commercial Law § 

13-303, et seq.; 

 

d. Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched as a result of their conduct; and  

 

e. Whether, and to what extent, equitable relief should be imposed on Defendants 

to prevent them from continuing their unlawful practices; 

 

45. Accordingly, this action satisfies the requirements set forth under Fed. R. Civ. P.  

23(a), 23(b), and 23(c)(4). 
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CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 

NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349-d(3) 

(ON BEHALF OF THE NEW YORK SUBCLASS) 

46. Plaintiff  re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

47. Plaintiff brings this claim under New York General Business Law § 349-d(3) on 

his own behalf and on behalf of each member of the New York Subclass who was an Ambit 

customer on or after June 15, 2012. 

48. N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(3) provides that “[n]o person who sells or offers for sale any 

energy services for, or on behalf of, an ESCO shall engage in any deceptive acts or practices in the 

marketing of energy services.” 

49. Defendants Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC and Ambit New York, LLC offer for sale 

energy services for and on behalf of an ESCO.  

50. N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(10) provides that “any person who has been injured by reason 

of any violation of this section may bring an action in his or her own name to enjoin such unlawful 

act or practice, an action to recover his or her actual damages or five hundred dollars, whichever is 

greater, or both such actions.  The court may, in its discretion, increase the award of damages to an 

amount not to exceed three times the actual damages up to ten thousand dollars, if the court finds 

the defendant willfully or knowingly violated this section.  The court may award reasonable 

attorney’s fees to a prevailing plaintiff.” 

51. Further, any purported waiver by Plaintiff of the rights afforded by Section 349-d is 

void and unenforceable.  N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(8). 

52. These Defendants have engaged in, and continue to engage in, deceptive acts and 

practices in violation of N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(3) by adding additional budget billing settlement 
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charges on customers’ final bills that are in excess of any balance owed, and failing to disclose 

the actual balance that customers owe under the budget billing plan.  Defendants also failed to 

inform customers that the budget billing payments made were not covering all energy charges 

owed.  Finally, Defendants violated N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(3) by using these hidden charges to 

disguise the fact that Ambit’s rates are much higher than those charged by consumers’ existing 

utilities.  

53. The aforementioned acts are willful, unfair, unconscionable, deceptive, and 

contrary to the public policy of New York, which aims to protect consumers. 

54. As a direct and proximate result of these Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff  

and the New York Subclass have suffered injury and monetary damages in an amount to be 

determined at the trial of this action but not less than $500.00 for each violation, such damages to 

be trebled, plus attorneys’ fees. 

55. Plaintiff  and the other members of the New York Subclass further seek 

an order enjoining these Defendants from undertaking any further unlawful conduct.  Pursuant to 

N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(10), this Court has the power to award such relief. 

COUNT II 

NEW YORK GENERAL BUSINESS LAW § 349 

 (ON BEHALF OF THE NEW YORK SUBCLASS) 

56. Plaintiff  re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

57. Plaintiff  brings this claim under N.Y. G.B.L. § 349 on his own behalf and 

on behalf of each member of the New York Subclass who was an Ambit customer on or after 

June 15, 2012.  

58. N.Y. G.B.L. § 349 prohibits “[d]eceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state.”   
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59. The acts of Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC and Ambit New York, LLC described 

herein are consumer-oriented in that they are directed at members of the consuming public.  

60. These Defendants have engaged in, and continue to engage in, deceptive acts and 

practices in violation of N.Y. G.B.L. § 349 by adding additional budget billing settlement 

charges on customers’ final bills that are in excess of any balance owed, and failing to disclose 

the actual balance that customers owe under the budget billing plan.  Defendants also failed to 

inform customers that the budget billing payments made were not covering all energy charges 

owed.  Finally, Defendants violated N.Y. G.B.L. § 349 by using these hidden charges to disguise 

the fact that Ambit’s rates are much higher than those charged by consumers’ existing utilities.  

61. The aforementioned acts are willful, unfair, unconscionable, deceptive, and 

contrary to the public policy of New York, which aims to protect consumers. 

62. As a direct and proximate result of these Defendants’ unlawful deceptive acts and 

practices, Plaintiff  and the New York Subclass have suffered injury and monetary 

damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action but not less than $50.00 for each 

violation, such damages to be trebled, plus attorneys’ fees. 

63. Plaintiff  and the other members of the New York Subclass further seek 

equitable relief against Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC and Ambit New York, LLC.  Pursuant to 

N.Y. G.B.L. § 349, this Court has the power to award such relief, including but not limited to, an 

order declaring these Defendants’ practices as alleged herein to be unlawful, an order enjoining 

these Defendants from undertaking any further unlawful conduct, and an order directing these 

Defendants to refund to Plaintiff and the Class all amounts wrongfully assessed, collected, or 

withheld.  
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COUNT III 

MARYLAND CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT  

(ON BEHALF OF THE MARYLAND SUBCLASS) 

64. Plaintiff  re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

65. Plaintiff  brings this claim under Maryland’s Consumer Protection Act, 

MD. CODE, COM. LAW § 13-101 et seq. (the “MCPA”) on his own behalf and on behalf of each 

member of the Maryland Subclass who was an Ambit customer on or after June 15, 2012.  

66. The acts of Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC and Ambit Northeast, LLC described 

herein are consumer-oriented in that they are directed at members of the consuming public.  

67. These Defendants have engaged in, and continue to engage in, deceptive acts and 

practices in violation of the MCPA adding additional budget billing settlement charges on 

customers’ final bills that are in excess of any balance owed, and failing to disclose the actual 

balance that customers owe under the budget billing plan.  Defendants also failed to inform 

customers that the budget billing payments made were not covering all energy charges owed.  

Finally, Defendants violated the MCPA by using these hidden charges to disguise the fact that 

Ambit’s rates are much higher than those charged by consumers’ existing utilities.  

68. Plaintiff  and the Maryland Subclass relied on Defendants 

misrepresentations and omissions.  

69. The aforementioned acts are willful, unfair, unconscionable, deceptive, and 

contrary to the public policy of Maryland, which aims to protect consumers. 

70. As a direct and proximate result of these Defendants’ unlawful deceptive acts and 

practices, Plaintiff  and the Maryland Subclass have suffered injury and monetary 

damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action.  Pursuant to MD. CODE COM. 
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LAW § 13-408, Plaintiff  and the Maryland Subclass seek actual damages and attorneys’ 

fees. 

71. Plaintiff  and the other members of the Maryland Subclass further seek 

equitable relief against Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC and Ambit Northeast, LLC.  Pursuant to 

MD. CODE COM. LAW § 13-408, this Court has the power to award such relief, including but not 

limited to, an order declaring these Defendants’ practices as alleged herein to be unlawful, an 

order enjoining these Defendants from undertaking any further unlawful conduct, and an order 

directing these Defendants to refund to Plaintiff and the Class all amounts wrongfully assessed, 

collected, or withheld.  

COUNT IV 

UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

(ON BEHALF OF THE MULTISTATE SUBCLASS) 

72. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation 

contained in the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

73. Plaintiffs bring this claim on their own behalf and on behalf of each member of 

the Multistate Subclass.  

74. As a result of their deceptive, unlawful, and unfair conduct, Defendants Ambit 

Energy Holdings, LLC, Ambit New York, LLC, and Ambit Northeast, LLC, have been unjustly 

enriched. 

75. By reason of these Defendants’ wrongful conduct, these Defendants have 

benefited from receipt of these improper funds, and under principles of equity and good 

conscience, these Defendants should not be permitted to keep this money. 

76. As a result of these Defendants’ collection of improper and excessive energy 

charges, it would be unjust and/or inequitable for these Defendants to retain the benefits of their 

conduct without restitution to Plaintiffs and the Multistate Subclass of the monies paid to these 
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Defendants.  Accordingly, these Defendants must account to Plaintiffs and the Multistate 

Subclass for their unjust enrichment.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court: 

(a) Issue an order certifying the Classes defined above, appointing the 

Plaintiffs as Class representatives, and designating the undersigned firm 

as Class Counsel; 

 

(b) Find that Defendants have committed the violations of law alleged herein; 

 

(c) Enter an order granting monetary relief pursuant to G.B.L. § 349 on 

behalf of the Class;   

 

(d) Enter an order granting monetary relief pursuant to G.B.L. § 349-d on 

behalf of the Class;   

 

(e) Enter an order granting monetary relief pursuant to MD. CODE COM. LAW 

§ 13-408 

 

(f) Determine that Ambit Energy Holdings, LLC, Ambit New York, LLC, 

and Ambit Northeast, LLC, have been unjustly enriched as a result of 

their wrongful conduct, and enter an appropriate order awarding 

restitution and monetary damages to the Class; 

 

(g) Render an award of compensatory damages, the amount of which is to 

be determined at trial; 

 

(h) Issue an injunction or other appropriate equitable relief requiring 

Defendants to refrain from engaging in the deceptive practices alleged 

herein; 

 

(i) Render an award of punitive damages; 

 

(j) Enter judgment including interest, costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, 

and expenses; and 

 

(k) Grant all such other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
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Dated:  June 15, 2015 

 Armonk, New York   

WITTELS LAW, P.C.  

 

By:      _/s/ Steven L. Wittels_________ 

Steven L. Wittels 

J. Burkett McInturff  

Tiasha Palikovic 

 

18 HALF MILE ROAD 

ARMONK, NEW YORK 10504  

Telephone: (914) 319-9945 

Facsimile: (914) 273-2563 

slw@wittelslaw.com 

jbm@wittelslaw.com 

      tpalikovic@wittelslaw.com 

 

      Lead Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Class 

 

      Seth R. Lesser 

      Fran L. Rudich 

KLAFTER OLSEN & LESSER, LLP  

Two International Drive, Suite 350               

Rye Brook, NY 10573 

Telephone: (914) 934-9200 

Facsimile: (914-934-9220 

      seth@klafterolsen.com  

fran@klafterolsen.com  

 

      Charles J. LaDuca 

      Beatrice Yakubu 

CUNEO GILBERT & LADUCA, LLP 

       8120 Woodmont Avenue 

      Suite 810 

      Bethesda, MD  20814 

      Telephone: (240) 483-4292 

      Facsimile: (202) 789-1813 

      charles@cuneolaw.com 

      byakubu@cuneolaw.com 

 

Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Class 

 

Case 6:15-cv-06361   Document 1   Filed 06/15/15   Page 20 of 20




